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DUFFIELD STREET HOUSES, (formerly the Johnson Street Houses),182-188 Duffield Street (aka
182,184, 186, 188 Duffield Street), Brooklyn. No. 182 built c. 1839-40; No. 184 built 1847; No. 186 built
c. 1835-38; No. 188 built c. 1835-38, remodeled c. 1881-83.

Landmark Site: Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 2058, Lot 40.

On January 30, 2001, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed designation
as a Landmark of the Duffield Street Houses (formerly the Johnson Street Houses) and the proposed designation of the
related Landmark Site (Item No. 1). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of law.
Two witnesses spoke in support of the designation, including a representative of the Historic Districts Council. The
Commission received one letter in support of the designation. At the time of designation the owner’s representative
expressed support for the designation.

Summary
Erected between c.1835 and 1847, these four houses are unusually intact survivors from the early

nineteenth century residential neighborhood that once flourished on the blocks east of Brooklyn’s civic center.
In contrast to wealthier Brooklyn Heights and the working class district near the Navy Yard, this neighborhood
evolved between the late 1820s and 1840s as a upper middle-class enclave and remained downtown Brooklyn’s
leading middle-class neighborhood throughout the nineteenth century. Moved two blocks to their present site
in 1990, these houses were originally located on Johnson Street between Bridge and Lawrence Streets on one
of several blocks developed by Rev. Samuel Roosevelt Johnson, who had inherited a portion of his
grandfather’s colonial-era farm. Three of the houses were constructed by Johnson; No. 184 was erected in
1847 as an investment property by merchant Francis Chichester. Nos. 182, 184, and 186 display aspects of
the Greek Revival style. No. 186 is especially noteworthy as one of the few surviving row houses in the city
with a free-standing Greek Revival portico. No. 188, an 1830s house remodeled in the early 1880s, is
ornamented with a combination of Queen Anne and Second Empire elements including an elaborate bracketed
porch hood. During the nineteenth century and early twentieth century, these houses were occupied by
merchants, lawyers, brokers, engineers, teachers, builders, and shipmasters. Residents included surveyor John
S. Stoddard, credited with laying out the streets in many of the older sections of Brooklyn, who owned No. 188
in the 1850s and early 1860s, and teacher Helen Lawrence who conducted a private school in No. 182 from
the mid-1850s through the mid-1870s. The houses remained in residential use through the 1980s. They were
moved to their present site as part of the MetroTech redevelopment plan in 1990. Today they survive as a
significant reminder of the history of downtown Brooklyn and of the evolution of Brooklyn’s middle-class
residential architecture.




DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Early Brooklyn and the Johnson Estate

In the mid-eighteenth century the village of
Brooklyn was a small hamlet centered around the
highway (modern-day Fulton Street) and the ferry that
linked the farming communities of western Long Island
with New York City. In 1755, Barent Johnson, a
prosperous farmer of Dutch descent, purchased a pie-
shaped tract of land of about forty acres which
extended from the highway to Wallabout Creek (near
present-day Navy Street) between present day
Willoughby and Tillary Streets.! Barent Johnson died
in 1777 of wounds he received fighting on the
American side during the Battle of Long Island.
Johnson left his property in trust for his orphaned nine-
year-old son, John Barent Johnson. John Barent
Johnson attended Columbia College and became a
minister in the Dutch Reformed Church.? In 1803, Rev.
Johnson and his wife Elizabeth Lupton Johnson became
ill and died with a few months of one another. They
left three young children who were raised by Elizabeth
Johnson’s half-brother, Peter Roosevelt, an
Episcopalian minister at Newtown. Both of the
Johnsons’ sons, William Lupton Johnson (1800-1870)
and Samuel Roosevelt Johnson (1802-1873), attended
Columbia and became Episcopalian ministers. Their
daughter, Maria Laidlie Johnson (1798-1827?), married
Rev. Evan M. Johnson, an Episcopalian minister from
Rhode Island who served as curate at Newtown from
1814 to 1826. In 1823, when Samuel Roosevelt
Johnson, the youngest of the three Johnson heirs,
reached the age of majority, the heirs entered into a
partition agreement to divide their Brooklyn property
which was subdivided into city blocks and lots.*

By that time the village of Brooklyn was growing
rapidly due to the opening of the Brooklyn Navy Yard
in 1801 and the introduction of steam ferry service
between Fulton Street in Manhattan and Fulton Street
in Brooklyn in 1814.> The village was incorporated in
1816 and in 1819 began an ambitious program to map
and improve its streets. The opening of the Erie Canal
in 1825 brought increased growth to Brooklyn. New
warehouses were built along the Brooklyn waterfront
and new factories were erected on the outskirts of the
village; a thriving commercial district developed along
Fulton Street. The new opportunities for employment
brought many new residents to the area. At the same
time the expansion of New York City’s downtown
commercial district led many businessmen who had
formerly made their homes in Lower Manhattan to look
to Brooklyn for convenient suburban residences. A
wave of speculative residential building began. At

first, most of the new houses were concentrated in
Brooklyn Heights and in the neighborhood around the
Navy Yard. In the late 1820s and 1830s, however, the
heirs to the farms east of Fulton Street began to develop
their property. By 1834, Brooklyn had a population of
24,310 and was incorporated as a city. In 1836,
construction began on the foundations for a magnificent
city hall, located on a triangular site at the junction of
Court, Joralemon, and Fulton Streets, just opposite the
southwest corner of the Johnson Estate.°

Development of the Johnson Estate began in the
mid-1820s, moving east from Fulton Street along
Myrtle Avenue, then expanding to the north and south.
Rev. Evan Johnson, who had inherited his wife’s share
of the estate, was instrumental in this development. In
1826, he sold his farm in Newtown and moved to
Brooklyn where he established St. John’s Church at
Washington and Johnson Streets.” (Churches were an
amenity that attracted home buyers to a neighborhood).
According to the historian Henry Stiles, Rev. Evan
Johnson regarded the civic growth of Brooklyn as a key
factor in enhancing the value of the family’s real estate
and actively promoted the development of “its City
Hall, its parks, its ferries, its streets.”® Moreover,
Stiles credited to Rev. Evan Johnson’s “exertions and
perseverance .... the opening of that great eastern wing
of the city Myrtle Avenue.” All three of the Johnson
heirs contributed to the growth of Brooklyn by selling
the right-of-way through their property for Adams
Street and Tillary Street to the city at the cost of only
$1 in 1826."° The heirs also gave considerable
importance to the development of Johnson Street,
entering into an agreement in May 1833 to develop the
street “in a uniform manner so as to render it pleasant
and desirable for private residences”!! and establishing
restrictive covenants that required all the houses be set
back ten feet from the edge of the lot.'* Thus, they tried
to ensure that their property would attract well-to-do
buyers and that the neighborhood would develop as a
fashionable enclave.

Construction and Early History of the Johnson Street
(now Duffield Street) Houses"

In the mid-1820s, Rev. Samuel R. Johnson, sold a
few unimproved lots (mostly on Bridge and Tillary
Streets) to builders and investors. In most cases he held
mortgages on the properties. Developmentincreased in
the area in the 1830s and Johnson began to erect
houses on his lots which he either sold or leased to
tenants. He began developing the block bounded by
Bridge Street, Johnson Street, Lawrence Street




(formerly Barbarin Street), and Myrtle Avenue around
1835. By 1840, when a street directory was published
listing occupants of residential buildings by their
addresses, there were four houses standing on the south
side of Johnson Street between Lawrence and Bridge
Streets including the houses formerly at 108 and 110
Johnson Street (now Nos. 186 and 188 Duffield Street),
four houses on the east side of Bridge Street between
Johnson and Myrtle Streets (demolished), one house on
the north side of Myrtle Avenue between Lawrence and
Bridge Streets (demolished), and two houses on the
west side of Lawrence Street between Johnson Street
and Myrtle Avenue (demolished). The occupants
included shipmasters, builders, a butcher, and several
merchants.

Johnson continued to build houses and sell vacant
lots through the 1840s. In 1839-40, he erected a house
at 100 Johnson Street (now No. 182 Duffield Street),
which was acquired by his cousin Oscar Johnson in
April 1840 and sold to a widow, Elizabeth Liscomb, in
June 1840. Liscomb resided at 100 Johnson Street until
around 1844-45. In January 1842, she purchased the
vacant lot at 106 Johnson Street from Samuel R.
Johnson that she sold to Charles H. Baxter, a sandpaper
manufacturer, in 1845. In February 1847, Francis H.
Chichester, guardian of Henrietta Chichester,
purchased the vacant lot from Baxter and erected a
house at 106 Johnson Street (now 184 Duffield Street),
which was leased for a period of five years beginning
in May 1847."

During the late 1830s and early 1840s, Rev.
Samuel R. Johnson resided in Lafayette, Indiana. For
most of the period, his real estate affairs were handled
by his nephew, Samuel E. Johnson, a distinguished
attorney and judge, who was the son of Maria Laidlie
Johnson and Rev. Evan Johnson. In 1847, Samuel R.
Johnson returned to Brooklyn and took over the pulpit
of St. John’s Church. In 1850, he was appointed
Professor of Systematic Divinity at the General
Theological Seminary and moved to Manhattan. That
year he sold his remaining rental properties on the
block.

The house at 110 Johnson Street (now 188
Duffield Street) was acquired in 1850 by John S.
Stoddard, a surveyor and civil engineer who was
responsible for laying out the streets in a large portion
of Brooklyn and who served in the late 1850s and early
1860s as chief engineer for Brooklyn’s municipal water
company." In 1866, Stoddard’s widow sold the house
to investor Alfred E. Lyman who leased it to furrier
Thomas Finnigan through the mid-1870s. In the early
1880s it was occupied by clothing dealer Isaac Cohn
and his family. In 1881, the building was sold to

Catherine Bagley, who raised the attic to a full story
and altered the facade.'® Occupants included John
McDonald, a carpenter, who occupied the house with
his family in 1900, William J. Cummings, an engineer,
and Joseph Henderson, an undertaker, both of whom
resided in the house with their families in 1905.

Samuel R. Johnson sold 108 Johnson Street (now
186 Duffield Street) to merchant George Hastings in
1850. It was acquired the following year by attorney
Henry Hagner (1824-1880) who had offices on Court
Street in Brooklyn. It was occupied until 1910 by
members of the Hagner family, including Henry
Hagner, Jr., who also practiced law in Brooklyn, his
sister Mary H. Lyman and her husband Robert A.
Lyman, an officer, at a coal and wood company.

No. 100 Johnson Street (now 182 Duffield Street)
changed hands several times in the early 1850s. In
1856 the house was purchased by schoolteacher Helen
W. Lawrence who conducted a school on the premises
with her sisters Sarah and Margaret until the early
1870s. It was leased to Zebulon Post, a fish merchant
at the Fulton Market, in the late 1870s and occupied by
members of the Lawrence family in the 1880s.

No. 106 Johnson Street (now 184 Duffield Street)
was purchased in 1852 by Charles B. Prindle, a grocer
with a wholesale business on South Street in
Manhattan. After his death in 1858, his heirs retained .
the house as an investment property. Around 1860, it
was leased to Sarah Halstead, a widow, who kept a
boarding house for two or three tenants at a time
including a lawyer, a printer, and a bookkeeper. In
1880, it was leased to Jacob York, a brick mason, and
in the 1890s was occupied by I. Craven, a broker, and
his wife. William Nolting, a physician, and Archibald
Crowe, a bookkeeper, and their families resided there
in the early 1900s.

This occupancy by professionals and well-to-do
merchants was typical of the neighborhood which
evolved as an upper-middle class enclave and remained
amiddle-class residential neighborhood until the early
1900s. To a certain extent this evolution sets it apart
from downtown Brooklyn’s other nineteenth-century
residential neighborhoods. Brooklyn Heights, while
retaining a significant amount of its older middle-class
housing, became a neighborhood of the wealthy
following the construction of large numbers of
elegantly-appointed new houses along Montague Street,
Montague Terrace, Remsen Street, and Columbia
Heights in the 1840s and 1850s."” It remained
Brooklyn’s most fashionable and aristocratic district
throughout the nineteenth century. The Fulton Ferry
neighborhood, which had initially incorporated a
mixture of housing and commercial enterprises, became



exclusively commercial and industrial by the mid-
nineteenth century. The neighborhood to the south and
west of the Brooklyn Navy Yard, developed largely
between the mid-1830s and the 1850s and built up with
modest rowhouses, became a working-class enclave.
As immigrants flocked to the neighborhood to take
advantage of the jobs provided by the Navy Yard and
neighborhood industries, it became one of Brooklyn’s
most densely populated areas and was popularly known
as “Irishtown” or “Vinegar Hill,” for the large number
of residents of Irish descent. By the mid-nineteenth
century other middle-class enclaves began to develop
justbeyond the downtown, including the neighborhoods
now known as Boerum Hill, Cobble Hill, Clinton Hill,
and Fort Greene, but the neighborhood to the east of
City Hall, now Borough Hall, retained its desirability,
probably as a result of its convenience to Brooklyn’s
commercial and governmental center.

The Design of the Houses'®

Erected between ¢.1835 and 1847, these two-and-
one-half-story and three-story brick and clapboard-
covered frame houses are representative of the urban
residential buildings that once lined the blocks east of
Brooklyn’s civic center and for the most part have now
been replaced or severely altered. Three of the four
buildings display aspects of the Greek Revival style,
which dominated American architecture from the late
1820s to the late 1840s, and is characterized by its
emphasis on planar wall surfaces, simple massive
forms, and classical ornament primarily derived from
classic Greek sources. No. 188 Duffield Street
(formerly110 Johnson Street) a mid-1830s house
remodeled in the early 1880s, features a combination of
Queen Anne and Second Empire decorative elements.
In accordance with the agreement the Johnsons had
made regarding the development of Johnson Street, the
houses originally set back from the street along a
uniform building line and had small front gardens with
iron picket fences. (This arrangement was replicated
when the houses were moved to Duffield Street).

No. 182 Duffield Street (formerly 100 Johnson
Street), constructed c. 1839-40, is a Greek Revival
style, three-bay-wide, two-and-one-half-story, brick
townhouse with a peaked roof. This house was
originally located on the corner of Johnson and
Lawrence Streets and its north wall is articulated by
two lines of windows that are now mostly sealed. The
north gable is capped by paired chimneys joined by a
parapet, a characteristic Greek Revival feature. On
both the primary and north facades, the window and
door openings are set off by the simple marble lintels
and sills. The wide marble stoop with castiron railings

has not survived. The tall parlor windows may be an
original feature since such floor length windows were
just becoming fashionable around 1840 or may be the
result of an early alteration. Historic photographs show
that the other windows originally had six-over-six
wood sashes which have been replaced. The
building’s most notable feature is the crowning wood
entablature composed of a tripartite architrave, fascia
board frieze pierced by horizontal attic windows, and
denticulated cornice.  Similar attic friezes and
entablatures are found on such notable examples of the
Greek Revival design as the houses at 1-13 Washington
Square North (1831-33) familiarly known as “The
Row” in the Greenwich Village Historic District and
the houses in Cushman Row (1839-40) at 408-418
West 20" Street in the Chelsea Historic District.

Alterations to the facade have included the
replacement of the original wood entrance surround,
doors, and transom with paired paneled wood and glass
doors and single-light transom, probably in the 1880s
or 1890s. These handsome doors are enriched with
beaded moldings and the transom bar above the
entrance is decorated with an unusual stylized classical
motif.

The two-story extension at the rear of this house
was probably added in the 1870s or 1880s. Its north
wall, which is partially visible from Duffield Street
through the alley between this building and 3
MetroTech Center, has lost its first story angled bay
visible in historic photographs of the house.

No. 184 Duffield Street (formerly 106 Johnson
Street), constructed in 1847, has a restrained design
typical of mid-and-late1840s urban vernacular
buildings influenced by the Greek Revival style. As
was characteristic for houses in the late 1840s, it has a
full third story surmounted by a flat roof. This house is
designed using an English basement plan, a type of
house plan modeled on English precedents that was just
coming into vogue in New York in the late 1840s. In
an English basement house the first story is set only a
few steps above street level and contains a formal
dining room and a stairhall which leads upstairs to a
double parlor on the second floor. This plan is
expressed in the exterior design of the house by the tall
windows at the second story which extended to the
parlor floor to provide adequate light and ventilation for
the large room. A stone band course between the
basement and first story and a string course beneath the
second-story windows emphasizes the dining room
floor. These stone courses create strong horizontal
lines to counter the tall proportions of the building and
the height of the second-story windows. Also
characteristic of the period is the use of dark stone trim



(probably bluestone or brownstone which is now
painted white) rather than the limestone or marble
customary in the 1830s and early 1840s and the
employment of somewhat heavy sills and lintels. The
facade is capped by a Tuscan Doric entablature with a
boldly projecting crowning cornice.

No. 184 also originally incorporated some Gothic
Revival details, including the trefoil pattern cast iron
railings and fences (no longer extant) and the cusped
arch panels which may survive on the paired wood
doors (now covered with metal panels). The entry
retains its original molded wood door surround and
single-light transom. The house originally had a
basement entry and small basement windows which
were not recreated when it was set on the present
foundation. At the rear extending across the back of
the house is a two-story porch with brick side walls and
a wood- framed rear wall clad with non-historic wood
siding. In the 1840s and 1850s such multi-story
galleries were a popular feature for urban houses.
Typically these galleries opened on to the back rooms
of the house through floor-length windows or French
doors which ensured adequate light and ventilation and
provided a view of the back garden. In many instances
one or more stories of the porch was enclosed with
framing and lit by multiple windows. When an enclosed
porch opened off the back parlor it was often used as an
informal sitting room or “tearoom.” Here, it appears
that the first-story porch opening off the dining room
was an open porch and had steps leading down to the
back garden." The second story porch was probably
always enclosed and used as a tearoom-sitting room.
Because rear porches were usually not built on as firm
a foundation as the rest of the house during this period
many galleries and tearooms have disappeared making
this porch something of a rare survivor.

No. 186 Duffield Street (formerly 108 Johnson
Street), constructed c. 1835-38, was built as a pair
with the house at 188 Duffield Street (formerly 110
Johnson Street) with which it shares a party wall. A
two-and-one-half-story frame house, faced with
clapboard siding above a masonry basement (originally
brick), No. 186 displays elements of the Federal and
Greek Revival styles. Its most notable feature is the
freestanding Greek Revival portico with square Doric
columns supporting a heavy entablature. According to
architectural historian Charles Lockwood, “the high
cost of cutting ... columns and building a freestanding
porch limited this [type of] doorway to only the finest
row houses” during the Greek Revival period.
Surviving examples of such porticos are rare in New
York City and are exceptionally rare for frame row
houses. No. 186 also is distinguished by the handsome

Greek Revival entrance surround with its narrow
sidelights framed by pilasters, and tripartite transom set
off by console ornaments and a transom bar ornamented
with a beaded molding. The house retains its original
wood door articulated with two long narrow recessed
panels. The articulation of the door, entrance surround,
and portico may have been adapted from plate 81 in
Minard Lafever’s The Modern Builder’s Guide
(1833),° apopular source for builders and architects of
the period. The parlor and second story windows are
framed by molded wood surrounds and have historic
six-over-six wood sashes. The facade is crowned by an
entablature composed of a wide frieze and a
denticulated cornice which was modified by the
addition of small decorative brackets in the late
nineteenth century and by the removal of a decorative
architrave molding sometime after 1940. The building
is surmounted by a peaked roof with two pedimented
dormers at the front of the house and a single dormer at
the center of the rear facade. The use of such dormers
is typical of the Federal style and points to the early
date of this house. Another early feature is the
irregular arrangement of windows at the second story of
the rear facade, where the northernmost window is
somewhat lower than the other windows since it lights
the staircase landing.

No. 188 Duffield Street (formerly 110 Johnson
Street), built as a pair with 186 Duffield Street
(formerly 108 Johnson Street ) with which it shares a
party wall, was raised from two-and-one-half stories to
three stories and given a new facade enriched with
Queen Anne and Second Empire details when it was
remodeled in the early 1880s. Faced with clapboard
siding, it has molded window surrounds with decorative
lintels and two-over-two wood window sashes. The
entrance is sheltered by an elaborate bracketed hood
which may to have been adapted from an earlier portico
roof. This surround features decorative spandrel panels
including stylized foliate forms and sunflowers, a
favorite motif of British Aesthetic movement, which
became an emblem of the Queen Anne style. Historic
photographs show that doorway contained paired
Queen Anne style paneled doors which were replaced
by the current door, side panels, and transom by the
1980s. The facade is capped by a Second Empire style
metal cornice enriched by a paneled frieze, modillions,
and console brackets. A large two-story wing at the
rear of the house was demolished immediately prior to
the house being moved to this site. While all of the
window casings appear to be historic, the present wood
clapboard siding and brick side wall facing were
installed c. 1990.



Later History*'
By the time of Consolidation in 1898, the area

around Brooklyn’s City Hall (subsequently Borough
Hall), had become its financial, commercial,
transportation, entertainment, and governmental center.
While much of this development took place in the area
south and west of Borough Hall, Fulton Street remained
the Borough’s prime commercial artery with businesses
radiating outward for several blocks. The western
portion of the former Johnson Estate (Washington,
Adams, Pearl Streets, at Willoughby Avenue, Myrtle
Avenue, and Johnson Street) became a commercial area
with many of the borough’s leading shops, hotels,
theaters, and major office buildings.”>  This
development was assisted by improvements in
transportation, notably the opening of the Brooklyn
Bridge (John A., Washington, and Emily Roebling,
1867-83, a designated New York City Landmark)
which terminated in Brooklyn at Sands Street between
Fulton Street and Washington Avenue where it
connected with the Kings County Elevated line, which
ran along Fulton Street, and with the Brooklyn Elevated
line, which ran along Washington Street and Myrtle
Avenue. Within a few years of the opening of the
elevated, Myrtle Avenue was transformed into a
commercial and manufacturing corridor with buildings
such as the Wilcox Millinery Company factory (1889)
at the northwest corner of Myrtle Avenue and Bridge
Street and the McEnnery and Mullins & Son furniture
warehouses on the south side of Myrtle Avenue at
Lawrence Street (pre-1903). For about twenty years
Johnson Street and blocks to the north remained
residential and middle class. However, the opening of
subway service to downtown Brooklyn in 1908, the
construction of the Manhattan Bridge and the Flatbush
Avenue Extension in1905-09, and the opening of anew
Long Island Railroad terminal at Flatbush and Atlantic
Avenues in 1906 made downtown Brooklyn even more
accessible and led to a further expansion of the
downtown business and entertainment district. At the
same time Brooklyn’s manufacturing sector, which had
traditionally been located near the Navy Yard, was also
expanding. A number of new factories and warehouses
opened along the Flatbush Avenue Extension. In 1920,
the American Safety Razor Corporation erected the
first building of its factory complex on Lawrence,
Johnson, and Jay Streets. By that time, many of the
older houses in the neighborhood had been altered to
accommodate commercial uses at the first story and
most of the houses had been converted from single-
family occupancy to boardinghouses or multiple
dwellings. These changes were reflected in the
occupancy of the houses on Johnson Street by 1915

when the census indicates that all but No. 108 (now
186 Duffield Street) were being used as multi-family
dwellings with residents employed in such occupations
as teamster, newspaper dealer, nurse, stenographer, and
printer. The majority of occupants were of Irish
descent but No. 106 (now 184 Duffield Street) was
occupied by a Brooklyn Rapid Transit Company
conductor from Guinea who leased rooms to a number
of fellow countrymen. By 1925 anumber of the houses
were occupied by Italian working-class families.

In the post-World War Il era several blocks east of
Fulton Street were demolished to create a new Civic
Center centered around Cadman Plaza. A portion of
Fulton Street between Pierrepont Street and the old
ferry landing was renamed Cadman Plaza West and
Washington Street was widened and renamed Cadman
Plaza East. Tillary Street was also widened to provide
an easier approach from the Flatbush Avenue Extension
to the Brooklyn Bridge. The elevated tracks that had
formerly descended from the Brooklyn Bridge on
Fulton Street and Myrtle Avenue were removed. As
factory jobs and long-time residents moved to the
suburbs in the 1950s and the Brooklyn Navy Yard
closed in 1966, the downtown business and residential
districts began to contract. Many of the historic stores
along Fulton Street closed and a number of houses in
the neighborhood east of the civic center became
derelict or were demolished.

The neighborhood began to experience new growth
in the late 1950s when the Polytechnic Institute of
Brooklyn (now Polytechnic University) acquired and
renovated the American Safety Razor Company’s old
buildings on Lawrence Street. In 1977 construction
began on the Fulton Mall. In the earlyl980s plans
began for MetroTech, a sixteen-acre complex of new
and renovated buildings developed as joint venture by
Polytechnic University and Forest City Ratner
Corporation. As part of the development, the Johnson
Street site was redeveloped for Polytechnic
University’s Bern Dibner Library of Science and
Technology, 5 MetroTech Center. These four houses
were moved from their original site to Duffield Street
in 1990 where they adjoin historic St. Boniface’s
Church. Today they survive as a significant reminder
of the early history of the neighborhood and of the
evolution of Brooklyn’s middle-class housing stock,
representative examples of what Walt Whitman
described in 1861 as “the architectural greatness” of
Brooklyn, “the hundreds and thousands of superb
private dwellings, for the comfort and luxury of the
great body of middle class people.”*



Description
Moved to their present location in 1990, the four

houses are located on a single tax lot which extends
98.4 feet along Duffield Street and is 100.3 feet deep.
A low non-historic wrought-iron fence set on blue stone
foundation borders the property on Duffield Street and
divides the front yards of the individual houses. A non-
historic metal gate extends across the narrow alley
between the north wall of 182 Duffield Street and the
south wall of 3 Metrotech Center. The matching gate
across the alley between 188 Duffield Street and St.
Boniface’s Church (190 Duffield Street) is partially on
church property. The north wall of the handicap ramp
to the church and a cyclone fence bordering the south
side of the rear yard of No. 188 mark the division line
between the two properties. The houses set back
several feet from the fence and are approached by non-
historic bluestone pavers and small grass plots. The
houses were stabilized and refurbished when they were
moved to this site in 1990.

No. 182 Duffield Street is a Greek Revival style,
three-bay-wide, two-and-one-half-story peaked-roofed
brick rowhouse with a two-story flat-roofed extension.
The house rests on a non-historic basement (constructed
when the house was moved) which is parged with
brownstone-colored stucco. The basement window
openings contain one-over-one wood sash and metal
grilles which were salvaged from the building’s old
basement. A small spigot is set between the north
window and the northeast corner of the building. A
small areaway in front of the basement windows is
protected by a low non-historic stuccoed masonry wall
that is coped with bluestone. The house is approached
by a high stoop, which appears to incorporate a historic
masonry base that has been parged with stucco and new
brownstone-tinted concrete steps. The wrought-iron
railings were installed when the house was moved. The
iron gates under the stoop were salvaged from the old
basement entrance.

Above the basement, the house is faced in brick
laid in running bond and has marble window sills and
lintels on its Duffield Street and north facades. The
parlor-level entrance is set off by a marble lintel. The
brick facades and the lintels and sills on the north
facade are painted. The entry contains a pair of historic
wood doors and a single-light transom in a historic
molded surround that probably dates from the late
nineteenth century. The doors are decorated with
recessed panels and are lit by tall windows. The
transom bar above the doors is enriched with an
unusual stylized egg-and-dart molding. The current
wood one-over-one window sash and wood surrounds
at the first and second stories are non-historic. They

replace one-over-one aluminum sash and frames that
had been installed by the mid-1980s. A photograph
from the 1930s shows six-over-six sash in most of the
windows and late-nineteenth-century two-over-two
sashes in the front parlor windows which were
lengthened. The facade is capped by a wood
entablature composed of tripartite architrave, fascia
board frieze pierced by attic windows, and denticulated
cornice. The paired wood casement windows are
historic.

The north elevation of the main portion of the
house is visible from Duffield Street. Above the
basement, the facade is articulated by two lines of
windows. On the east side of the facade, the first story
is lit by a non-historic one-over-one wood window.
The second and third story windows are sealed and may
have originally been blind windows. The western line
of windows have non-historic one-over-one wood
sashes at the first and second story. The attic window
is sealed with brick. This wall is capped by a pair of
chimneys that are joined by a parapet. Both of the
chimneys were rebuilt after the house was moved in
1990. The one-bay deep, three-bays-wide, two-story
extension is faced with brick. On the north wall of the
extension the former first story oriel has been removed
and the opening sealed with brick. The second story is
lit by a single window.

No. 184 Duffield Street is a three-story, twenty-
feet-wide, brick rowhouse with a two-story porch
extension. Its facade is designed in a restrained style
typical of mid-and-late1840s urban vernacular
buildings influenced by the Greek Revival style. The
building rests on a non-historic masonry foundation. A
small pipe head and round metal vent are located at the
north end of the base. There is a small spigot just north
of the stoop. The low masonry stoop and iron side rails
are non-historic.

Above the base the building is faced in red brick
laid in running bond. The windows and entrance are set
off by brownstone sills and lintels. The lintels are
painted; the sills and a sill course beneath the second-
story windows have been rebrownstoned. The entrance
retains its historic molded wood surround, single-light
transom and paired paneled wood doors with long
single lights. The bottom part of the doors have been
covered with painted sheet metal. Metal numerals
reading 184 are affixed to the top of the south door. A
non-historic metal light fixture has been installed
between the entrance and the middle window at the first
story. Non-historic metal window grilles have been
installed on the doors and the first story windows. All
of the window openings on this facade have historic
one-over-one double-hung wood sash. The facade is



capped by its original molded wood cornice which is
edged at the top with non-historic sheet metal flashing.

The rear elevation rests on a tall non-historic
basement which is faced with stucco. Above this base
the wall is faced with common brick. Much of the
facade is concealed by the historic two-story porch
which has brick side walls (painted). None of the
fenestration or cladding on this porch appears to be
historic but the presence of an enclosed porch at the
second story, the brick sidewalls and framing of the
porch, and the use of a shed roof are historic. At the
third story the rear facade is articulated by historic
segmental window openings with trabeated wood
surrounds. The windows have non-historic aluminum
sashes. The facade is capped by a denticulated brick
cornice.

No. 186 Duffield Street, constructed c. 1835-38,
is a twenty-four-feet-wide, two-and-one-half-story
clapboard-covered frame house which displays
elements of the Federal and Greek Revival styles. It
rests on a low non-historic foundation which is faced
with stucco. There is a small spigot just north of the
stoop. The entrance porch and steps are supported by
non-historic foundations which are stuccoed. Non-
historic wood lattice screens cover the openings
beneath the stairs and porch. The stoop has non-
historic wood steps and railings dating from the 1990s,
however, the porch floor appears to be historic. The
heavy entablature of the Greek Revival entrance porch
is supported by square wood Tuscan Doric columns and
pilaster responds that frame the entrance. Extending
between the columns and pilasters at the sides of the
porch are historic wood lattice screens which have
small wood benches built into their bases. The
elaborate Greek Revival entrance surround features a
central paneled door which is flanked by narrow
sidelights and surmounted by a tripartite transom. The
pilasters framing the door are ornamented with
anthemions and the transom is enriched by a egg and
dart molding and by richly carved console brackets. A
non-historic recessed light fixture has been installed in
the porch ceiling. The door has non-historic hardware
and a non-historic mail slot. Non-historic metal
numerals reading “186" have been applied to the lintel
above the entrance. The house retains its original wood
clapboard siding and molded window surrounds and has
historic six-over-six wood window sash. The non-
historic louvred wood shutters date from the 1990s.
The facade is capped by an entablature composed of a
wide frieze and a denticulated cornice which was
modified by the addition of small decorative brackets in
the late nineteenth century and by the removal of a
classical architrave molding sometime after 1940. The

gabled roof and gabled dormers are covered with
standing seam sheet metal. The wide piers framing the
paired windows in the dormers were once ornamented
with classical motifs (probably brackets) which were
removed after 1940. The historic brick chimney on the
south side of the roof was largely rebuilt in the 1990s.
The metal pipe vent at the northeast corner of the roof
was installed prior to 1940.

The rear elevation is also faced with historic wood
clapboards. This facade has a one-story shed- roofed
porch which was completely enclosed and entirely clad
with non-historic wood clapboards after the house was
moved in 1990. The present stoop and paneled door are
non-historic additions from the 1990s. At the second
story the facade has three window bays, the
northernmost set slightly below the others. All three
have six-over-six wood sashes. At the attic level, there
is a central gabled dormer which is identical to the
dormers on the Duffield Street facade. Its paired
window openings contain non-historic one-over-one
wood sashes.

No. 188 Duffield Street is a mid-1830s twenty-
four-foot-wide frame rowhouse which was raised from
two-and-one-half stories to three stories and given a
new facade enriched with Queen Anne and Second
Empire details when it was remodeled in the early
1880s. Itrests on alow non-historic foundation which
is faced with stucco. There is a small spigot just south
of the stoop and a round metal vent cover at the south
corner of the base. The entrance is approached by a
historic wood stoop which rests on a non-historic
masonry base and has non-historic wood railings. The
upper stories are faced with wood clapboard siding.
The windows retain their original Queen Anne style
molded window surrounds with decorative lintels and
historic two-over-two wood window sashes. The
entrance is sheltered by an elaborate bracketed hood
with sawn and turned decorations including spandrel
panels featuring stylized foliate forms and sunflowers.
The entrance retains its original molded wood surround
with paneled jambs. The current door, sidelights, and
single-light transom are non-historic infill replacing
paired Queen Anne style doors visible in c. 1940s
photographs of the house. The facade is crowned by a
Second Empire-style metal cornice enriched by a
paneled frieze, modillions, and console brackets.

The south wall of the building was faced with brick
when it was moved to its present site. A large two-
story extension at the rear of the building was also
removed.

Report prepared by
Gale Harris
Research Department
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NOTES

This material on the Johnson family is based on Henry W. Stiles, ed., History of the City of Brooklyn 3
vols.(Brooklyn: published by subscription, 1867-70), v. 1, 13-14, v. 3, 635, 661-663; Appleton’s Cyclopaedia
of American Biography v. 3, p. 444; Rev. J.B. Johnson, Rev. William L. Johnson papers, Manuscript
Collection, New York Historical Society, Theodore P. Johnson, Genealogy of Theodore Polhemus Johnson
(New York: printed privately, n.d.), 3-12; John B. Johnson, Last Will and Testament, Kings County, Office of
the Surrogate, Wills Liber 1, p. 381.

According to Theodore P. Johnson ( p. 7), Barent Johnson and his cousin Barent Johnson, father of Gen.
Jeremiah Johnson, were such fierce fighters on the side of the Revolutionaries that they were nicknamed the
“Twin Tigers.”

From 1796 to 1802 J.B. Johnson served as the minister at the Reformed Dutch Church at Albany and was one
of chaplains of the New York State Assembly. In October 1802, he was installed at the Dutch Church in
Brooklyn.

For the Johnson partition agreement see Kings County, Office of the Register, Liber Deeds and Conveyances,
Liber 14, p. 143.

This section on the early development of Brooklyn is based on Margaret Latimer, “Brooklyn” in Kenneth T.
Jackson, ed., The Encyclopedia of New York City (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1995), 148-151; Ralph
Foster Weld, Brooklyn Village, 1816-1834 (New York: Columbia University Press, 1938), 6-30, 39-47; Henry
W. Stiles, The Civil, Political, Professional and Ecclesiastical History and Commercial and Industrial Record
of the County of Kings and the City of Brooklyn, New York, from 1683-1834, 2 vols. (New York: W.W.
Munsell & Co., 1884) , v. 1, 139-145; Edwin G. Burrows and Mike Wallace, Gotham: A History of New York
to 1898 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1999), 449, 580.

Construction of Brooklyn City Hall was halted following the completion of the foundations due to the
economic downturn following the Panic of 1837 and was resumed in 1845-48 following a new more modest
design by Gamiel King. Brooklyn City Hall, now Brooklyn Borough Hall, is a designated New York City
Landmark.

For St. John’s Church see William Lee Younger, Old Brooklyn in Early Photographs, 1865-1929 (New York:
Dover, 1978), 51.

Stiles, History of the City of Brooklyn, v. 3, 662.
Ibid.

Conveyances, Liber 22, p. 340.

Conveyances, Liber 36, p. 279.

Ibid. See also Liber 89, p. 441.

This section on Samuel Roosevelt Johnson’s development of his share of the Johnson Estate is based on “Map
of Real Estate of the Heirs of Rev. J. B. Johnson” and Map of Property in the 4™ Ward being Part of the Real
Estate of the Late Rev. J. B. Johnson ... to be sold at auction 30 Sept. 1846" in the J. B. Johnson Papers,
NYHS; Conveyances, Liber 16, p. 180, 198, 284, 298, Liber 22, p. 340, Liber 23, p. 305, 307, Liber 65, p.
339, 353, 357, Liber 67, p. 90, p. 292, Liber 89, p. 355, 357, 441, 510, Liber 90, p. 57, Liber 90, 59, p.146,
Liber 128, p. 502, Liber 129, 202, Liber 187, p. 198, Liber 189, p. 425, Liber 213, p. 503. Biographical
details were drawn from Appleton’s Cyclopaedia, v. 3, p. 444

Liber 190, p. 436 indicates that $2800 to $3000 was expended to construct this house which was rented “to a
good tenant at a rent of $330 per annum, somewhat under present annual value.”



15.
16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

23.

For John S. Stoddard see Stiles, History of Kings County, v. 1, 585, 588.

The date proposed for this alteration is based on a change in the assessed valuation of the property which had
previously been taxed at the same rate as 108 Johnson Street. See Brooklyn Tax Assessment Records, 1881-
85, Ward 4, Block 37, in the New York City Municipal Archives

This section on the evolution of Brooklyn’s residential neighborhoods is based on Burrows and Wallace, 728-
730, 933-937; Charles Lockwood, Bricks and Brownstone, The New York Row House, 1783-1929 (New York:
McGraw-Hill, 1972); 213-225; Landmarks Preservation Commission [LPC], Fulton Ferry Historic District
Designation Report (LP-0856)(New York: City of New York, 1977), 4-5; LPC, Vinegar Hill Historic District
Designation Report, prepared by Donald Presa (LP-1952)(New York: City of New York, 1997).

This section on the design of the Duffield Street houses is based on Lockwood, passim; Ada Louise Huxtable,
Classic New York: Georgian Gentility to Greek Elegance (New York: Doubleday, 1964); Clay Lancaster, Old
Brooklyn Heights: New York’s First Suburb, 2" ed (New York: Dover, 1979).

Currently one third of the porch is open and one can distinguish the outlines of a former floor length window
opening on the rear wall.

Minard Lafever, The Modern Builder’s Guide (1833; reprint ed. New York: Dover, 1969), pl. 81. Certain
interior details, notably the door surround dividing the double parlors on the first floor also appear to be
influenced by Lafever’s designs.

This section on the later history of the area is based on Burrows and Wallace, 1055, 1228; Younger, 25-56;
The Neighborhoods of Brooklyn, eds. Kenneth T. Jackson and John B. Manbeck (New Haven: Yale University
Press, 1998), 89-93; Ellen Snyder-Grenier, Brooklyn: An Illustrated History (Philadelphia: Temple University
Press, 1996), 9-12; King’s Views of Brooklyn (1905); Elliot Willensky, When Brooklyn Was the World, 1920-
1957 (New York: Crown, 1986), 47-52; Brooklyn Eagle Daily Almanac, (Brooklyn: Brooklyn Daily Eagle,
1895), 2, map sect. 4; Norval White and Elliot Willlensky, AIA Guide to New York City (New York: Three
Rivers Press, 2000), 638-47; “Cultural Resource Reconnaissance, Metropolitan Technology Center, Brooklyn,
New York,” (prepared by Historic Sites Research, Princeton, NJ, 1984) (copy available in the Landmarks
Preservation Environmental Review files, CEQR 82-248).

Indicative of this transformation is the history of the St. John’s Church site on southeast corner of Washington
and Johnson Streets, which was sold by the church in 1868, replaced by the Brooklyn Theater and Clarendon
Hotel in the 1870s, and by the Brooklyn Eagle Building in 1892 (demolished). Other major buildings in the
area included the United States Post Office and Federal Building (Mifflin E. Bell,1885-91, a designated New
York City Landmark) at the northeast corner of Washington and Johnson Streets, the New York Telephone
Building (R. L. Daus, 1898) at the northeast corner of Willoughby and Lawrence Streets, and Brooklyn Fire
Headquarters (Frank Freeman, 1892, a designated New York City Landmark) at 365-367 Jay Street between
Willoughby Street and Myrtle Avenue.

Originally published in a column in the Brooklyn Evening Standard in 1861 reprinted in Walt Whitman’s New
York, ed. Henry M. Christman (New York: New Amsterdam Books, 1963), 57.
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FINDINGS AND DESIGNATION

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture, and other features of
this building, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that the Duffield Street Houses (formerly
the Johnson Street Houses) have a special character and special historical and aesthetic interest and
value as part of the development, heritage, and cultural characteristics of New York City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the Duffield Street Houses
(formerly the Johnson Street Houses), four two-and-one-half story and three-story brick and frame
houses erected between c. 1835 and 1847, are rare intact survivors from the residential neighborhood
that once flourished on the blocks east of Brooklyn’s civic center; that this neighborhood was
developed in the early nineteenth century as a middle-class alternative to the wealthier Brooklyn
Heights neighborhood and to the working class district near the Navy Yard and remained downtown
Brooklyn’s leading middle-class neighborhood throughout the nineteenth century; that these four
houses, moved to their present site in 1990, were originally located on Johnson Street between Bridge
and Lawrence Streets on one of several blocks developed in the 1830s and 1840s by Rev. Samuel
Roosevelt Johnson; that three of the houses were constructed by Johnson while No. 184 was erected
in 1847 as an investment property by merchant Francis Chichester; that Nos. 182, 184, and 186
display aspects of the Greek Revival style; that No. 186 is especially noteworthy as one few surviving
row houses in the city with a free-standing Greek Revival portico; that No. 188, an 1830s house
remodeled in the early 1880s, is enriched with a combination of Queen Anne and Second Empire
elements including an elaborately decorated bracketed porch hood; that during the nineteenth century
and early twentieth century, these houses were occupied by merchants, lawyers, physicians, engineers,
school teachers, builders, and shipmasters, professions typical of the neighborhood; that among the
residents were surveyor John S. Stoddard, credited with laying out the streets in many of the older
sections of Brooklyn, who owned No. 188 in the 1850s and early 1860s and teacher Helen Lawrence
who conducted a private school in No. 182 from the mid-1850s through the mid-1870s; that these
houses remained in residential use through the 1980s; that they were moved to their present site as
part of the Metrotech redevelopment plan in 1990; that they survive today as a significant reminder
of the history of downtown Brooklyn and of the evolution of Brooklyn’s middle-class residential
architecture.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 74, Section 3020 of the Charter of the
City of New York and Chapter 3 of Title 25 of the Administrative Code of the City of New York,
the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as a Landmark the Duffield Street Houses
(formerly the Johnson Street Houses, 182-188 Duffield Street (aka 182,184, 186, 188 Duffield
Street), Brooklyn and designates Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 2058, Lot 40 as its Landmark

Site.
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Duffield Street Houses (formerly the Johnson Street Houses)

182-188 Duffield Street (aka 182, 184, 186, 188 Duffield Street), Brooklyn
Photo: Carl Forster
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182 Duffield Street House
(formerly 100 Johnson Street House)

Built c. 1839-40
Photo: Carl Forster



182 Duffield Street House at its former location at 100 Johnson Street
“Tax” Department Photograph, c. 1940
Photo source: NYC Municipal Archives
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184 Duffield Street House
(formerly 106 Johnson Street)
Built 1847

Photo: Carl Forster
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184 Duffield Street House at its former location at 106 Johnson Street

“Tax” Department Photograph, c. 1940
Photo source: NYC Municipal Archives
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186 Duffield Street House
(formerly 108 Johnson Street)

Built c. 1835-38
Photo: Carl Forster
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186 Duffield Street House at its former location at 108 Johnson Street

“Tax” Department Photograph, c. 1940
Photo source: NYC Municipal Archives
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188 Duffield Street House
(formerly 110 Johnson Street)

Built c. 1835-38, remodeled c. 1881-83
Photo: Carl Forster



188 Duffield Street House at its former location at 110 Johnson Street

“Tax” Department Photograph, c. 1940
Photo source: NYC Municipal Archives



Details
188 Duffield Street House

Photos: Carl Forster
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Duffield Street Houses (formerly the Johnson Street Houses)
182-188 Duffield Street (aka 182, 184, 186, 188 Duffield Street), Brooklyn

Landmark Site: Borough of Brooklyn Tax Map Block 2508 Lot 40
Source: New York City Dept. of Finance, City Surveyor, Tax Map
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